FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/13/2018 3:40 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/18/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95969-2

76502-7-I

# COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON

BURIEN TOWN SQUARE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Plaintiff.

v.

BURIEN TOWN SQUARE PARCEL 1, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and BURIEN TOWN SQUARE, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and JOHN DOES 1-100,

Defendants.

# RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven G. Wraith, WSBA No. 17364 Dirk J. Muse, WSBA No. 28911 Kellan W. Byrne, WSBA No. 49825 Of Attorneys for Respondent

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Burien Town Square Parcel 1, LLC and Burien Town Square, LLC (collectively "BTS"), a defendant at the trial court and a respondent at Division One of the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the decision identified in Part II below.

### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

BTS petitions this Court to review Division One's decision in Burien Town Square Condominium Association v. Burien Town Square Parcel 1, LLC, 416 P.3d 1286 (2018), No. 76502-7-I, issued on May 14, 2018, which reversed the King County Superior Court's order dismissing on summary judgment plaintiff Burien Town Square Condominium Association's ("the Association") claims under the Washington Condominium Act ("WCA"). This decision is attached in Appendix A.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should accept review because Division One's decision interpreting the WCA was a case of first impression, and because the decision necessarily involves issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of the facts.

This case arises out of the construction and sale of a condominium complex in Burien, Washington ("the Condominium").

BTS was the original owner and developer of the Condominium. On May 1, 2009, BTS' general contractor, Rushforth Taylor Construction, achieved substantial completion of the Condominium. CP 340. BTS conveyed the first unit at the Condominium on or before May 19, 2009. CP 382-387. On July 8, 2009, the City of Burien issued a Certificate of Occupancy for the Condominium. CP 342.

On May 7, 2009, BTS filed the Declaration of Covenants. CP 234-329. On July 15, 2009, BTS filed the First Amendment to Declaration of Covenants. CP 331-338.

In November 2009, BTS defaulted on its loan to develop the Condominium, and the lender's agent subsequently foreclosed on the loan. CP 189-228. On October 28, 2010, BTS entered into a Settlement, Release, and Cooperation Agreement with the lender's successor and its affiliates. *Id.* Pursuant to the agreement, the title to the Condominium was transferred to BTS Marketing, LLC ("Marketing"), which had no affiliation with BTS. *Id.* On November 2, 2010, the Trustee's Deed was recorded in King County. CP 348-354. Thus, as of November 2, 2010, BTS had relinquished, and Marketing had assumed, any ownership or declarant rights in the Condominium.

By summer 2013, the Association knew of potential defects in the Condominium, and accordingly sought legal advice regarding warranty claims under the WCA. CP 633. The Association's property manager consulted with Barker Martin, P.S., a well-known construction defect law firm in Seattle, which advised that the warranty period would expire four years after the date of the first recorded sale. Id. The property manager recommended that it was the Board's fiduciary responsibility to explore pursuing the WCA claims against BTS, as well as the negative repercussions of failing to do so. Id. Despite the fact that the Association was incorrect regarding the actual date of the first recorded sale, which was actually May 19, 2009, it understood that, in order to preserve any warranty claims against BTS, it would need to act by summer 2013. CP 457; 633. Ultimately, the Association served a Notice of Construction Defects in August 2013. CP 389-396. Regardless of the fact that the Notice was untimely due to the mistake regarding the date of accrual, the Association quashed the Notice for other reasons, and ultimately declined to pursue a lawsuit against BTS in 2013. CP 409-410; 643.

### B. Procedural history.

On February 26, 2015, the Association served BTS and Marketing with a Notice of Construction Defects, pursuant to RCW 64.50.020. CP 356-360. On April 29, 2015, the Association filed an action against BTS,

but not Marketing, for alleged construction defects. CP 1-10. The Association alleged several causes of action against BTS, including misrepresentation and breach of the WCA, RCW 64.34.405 and .410. *Id.* The Association also alleged causes of action for breach of implied warranty of habitability, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act. *Id.* The Association's claims were based on alleged construction defects related to the Condominium's "common elements" or "limited common elements," as defined by the WCA and the Condominium Declarations. CP 1-10; 373-380.

On April 1, 2016, BTS moved for partial summary judgment on the Association's WCA claims, on the basis that those claims were timebarred. CP 138-148. On May 6, 2016, the trial court granted dismissal of the Association's WCA claims. CP 418-419.

On May 16, 2016 the Association moved for reconsideration of the court's decision. CP 420-430. On May 31, 2016, the trial court denied the Association's Motion for Reconsideration. CP 445-446.

On June 30, 2016, the Association moved for interlocutory discretionary review of the trial court's decisions granting partial summary judgment and denying reconsideration. CP 447-448. On October 27, 2016, Division One denied discretionary review, finding no obvious or

probable error in the trial court's conclusions that the Association's WCA claims were time-barred. CP 456-461. The Commissioner's Ruling Denying Discretionary review specifically noted that the Association conceded that the construction was complete and all common elements were added and completed by July 8, 2009, and that the Association did not dispute that "BTS lost its developmental rights as of November 2, 2010." *Id.* The Commissioner found it reasonable for the trial court to conclude that BTS' period of declarant control necessarily terminated two years after its right to add new units ended, and found no obvious or probable error in the conclusion that the Association's WCA claims were time-barred. *Id.* 

On February 21, 2017, upon the Association's motion for voluntary dismissal, the trial court entered an Order Dismissing Plaintiff's Remaining Claims, thereby eliminating the Association's non-WCA claims against BTS. CP 508-510. On February 28, 2017, the Association filed a Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division One, and on June 29, 2017, the Association filed its Brief of Appellant. BTS filed its Brief of Respondent on August 30, 2017. The Association filed a Reply Brief on October 26, 2017. On April 9, 2018, the parties held oral argument before a panel of three Division One judges. On May 14, 2018, Division One issued a published opinion reversing the trial court's

dismissal of the Association's claims and remanding the matter for further proceedings.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest.

This case is appropriate for review because the question of when a period of declarant control terminates under the WCA is an issue of substantial public interest, affecting both condominium developers and consumers alike. Indeed, the determination of whether a condominium developer can be subjected to a potentially unending statute of limitations, even well after being foreclosed upon and ceding all rights and involvement in a condominium to an unaffiliated successor declarant, will have a profound impact on the real estate development and condominium construction industry as a whole. This too will affect consumers significantly, as less and less affordable housing becomes available as the result of developers' uncertainty concerning extended liability exposure.

In this case, BTS was foreclosed upon, and had surrendered all of its development rights to Marketing as of November 2, 2010. At that point, BTS had no ability to take any of the actions that would trigger the termination of declarant control under RCW 64.34.308(5)(b). The Trustee's Deed specifically precluded BTS from taking any such

development action; it had no ability to add new units (RCW 64.34.308(5)(b)(iii), and no right to file an amendment to the declaration (RCW 64.34.308(5)(b)(iv), once it had relinquished its development rights to Marketing.

After defaulting on its loan and being forced to transfer its rights to Marketing, an entirely independent entity, BTS had no involvement whatsoever in the Condominium. Yet, under the Court of Appeals' decision, BTS remained exposed to suit indefinitely, subject to whatever actions Marketing, over whom BTS had no affiliation or control, might take that could trigger the provisions of RCW 64.34.308(5)(b).

The Court of Appeals' decision could have a significant chilling effect on the development of condominiums throughout Washington State; original developer declarants will likely be especially wary of beginning new projects in the event they lose or must transfer declarant control, if they could be subject to liability under the WCA without a clear limitations period. Likewise, this case presents significant ramifications for consumers, as the operative issues involve the rights of individual residential buyers.

Here, the Court of Appeals' decision is one of first impression, rendering review even more appropriate. The Court of Appeals is the first state court in Washington to address this issue of declarant control and the

statute of limitations under the WCA, and the decision turned on pure questions of statutory interpretation. Prior to the decision, the general public had no published Washington opinions to consult for guidance on the WCA declarant control and statute of limitations issues. The published opinion is remarkably light on case citations. Further, the case of One Pac. Towers Homeowners Ass'n v. HAL Real Estate Invs., Inc., 148 Wn.2d 319, 61 P.3d 1094 (2002), referenced in the opinion and relied upon by Appellant, does not specifically address declarant control. Rather, it focused on whether subsidiaries and corporations acting in concert with such subsidiaries could be considered declarants under the WCA. Such facts do not exist in this matter. Without an established body of case law to provide guidance, all parties would benefit from review of this decision, and a bright line rule that defines precisely when the statute of limitations terminates for claims against an original developer declarant that has since relinquished all rights in the subject condominium.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

BTS requests the Supreme Court to accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision in this case involves issues of substantial public interest. The question of whether an original developer declarant may be subjected to a potentially indefinite statute of limitations, even after surrendering all development rights in a condominium, is one of first

impression in Washington State, as no other published decisions have previously addressed similar issues of declarant control and the statute of limitations under the WCA. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals' decision has wide-ranging and important consequences for both condominium developers and individual residential buyers. As such, review is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(4).