FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2018 3:10 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95969-2

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BURIEN TOWN SQUARE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Respondent,

VS.

BURIEN TOWN SQUARE PARCEL 1, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and BURIEN TOWN SQUARE, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and JOHN DOES 1-100,

Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sidney Tribe, WSBA #33160 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent

#

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
C.	ARGU	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED4	
	(1)	BTS Has Not Shown that the Court of Appeals Decision Merits This Court's Review, Regardless of Whether there is General Public Interest in the Statute of Limitations for Condominium Common Area Defect Actions	
	(2)	BTS Policy Arguments for Review Are Not Well Founded and Are Contrary to the Public Policy Behind the WCA, as the Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded	
	(3)	Not Every Issue of First Impression Merits Review by This Court, Particularly Where the Issues Were Easily Resolved Below by Consulting the Statute and a Dictionary	
	(4)	The Association Is Entitled to an Award of Fees Under RAP 18.1(j)	
D.	CONCLUSION12		
Appendix			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases
Washington Cases
Burien Town Square Condo. Ass'n v. Burien Town Square  Parcel 1, LLC, Wn. App. 2d,  416 P.3d 1286 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018)
Statutes
RCW 64.34.308(5)(b)       9         RCW 64.34.316(2)(a)       10         RCW 64.34.380       10         RCW 64.34.380       12
Rules and Regulations
RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3)

### A. INTRODUCTION

In this construction defect case, Burien Town Square Parcel 1, LLC and Burien Town Square, LLC (collectively "BTS") built a condominium with defective common elements. Faced with foreclosure, BTS then transferred its control of the building to a successor. The successor had no financial incentive to sue BTS and refused to do so. The successor retained control over the building's governing association for several more years.

Finally, in March 2014, the successor was required by statute to hand control over the building's association to individual unit owners. The association sued BTS for the construction defects. But BTS claimed that the statute of limitations had run while the building's homeowners' association was still controlled by the successor and not the individual unit owners.

The Court of Appeals, using the plain language of the Washington Condominium Act, RCW ch. 64.34 ("WCA") and the dictionary, determined that the statute of limitations on a common element construction defect claim tolls while the individual unit owners do not have control over the board of their building's governing association.

BTS seeks this Court's review, hoping for one last chance to escape liability on statute of limitations grounds. Its petition does not

reflect a case worthy of this Court's time and attention. Review should be denied.

### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

BTS was the original developer and owner of a condominium complex in downtown Burien called the Burien Town Square ("Condominium"). CP 155.

The first unit in the condominium was conveyed to an individual owner on or before May 19, 2009. CP 382-87. Construction of the Condominium was substantially completed on May 1, 2009, and it was certified for occupancy by the City on July 8, 2009. CP 340, 342. All of the common elements were added by that date, and no additional common elements or units were added thereafter. *Id.*; CP 144.

BTS had taken out a construction loan from Corus Bank. In November 2009, less than four months after receiving the certificate of occupancy, BTS defaulted on the loan. CP 191. BTS owed approximately \$35 million. CP 196. Corus Bank's successor in interest foreclosed. *Id.* In November 2010, the Condominium was conveyed in a settlement agreement to BTS Marketing, LLC ("Marketing"). CP 189-213.

From November 2010 forward, Marketing continued to sell units in the condominium, but did not give up its statutory right of control over

the building's operation. CP 403-04. It controlled the building by retaining the right to appoint the board of directors of the condominium association ("the Association"). *Id*.

Marketing was aware that there were construction defects in the common areas of the building in August 2013. CP 643-45; Appendix at 1-3. However, Marketing controlled the Association. CP 403. Marketing expressed concern that pursing a claim against BTS could jeopardize government financing and "\$3.5 million dollars in closings" that Marketing was about to enjoy. *Id.* Marketing, through its appointed members of the Association board, chose not to act.

In January 2014, Marketing notified the Association that 75% of the units in the building had been sold to individual owners. CP 404. This meant that for the first time, individual owners had the statutory right to elect the majority of the board of directors of the Association. *Id.* In late February 2014, an election was held by the individual unit owners. On March 1, 2014, the new, unit-owner controlled board was seated. *Id.* 

The Association, now controlled by individual unit owners rather than the corporate entities that had controlled the building, had concerns about the construction defects. CP 356. In February 2015, the Association notified BTS and Marketing of these defects, and requested that they be cured. *Id.* BTS and Marketing did not cure the problems.

On April 29, 2015, the Association filed claims against BTS under the Washington Condominium Act, RCW ch. 64.34 ("WCA"). CP 1-10. BTS moved for partial summary judgment dismissal of the WCA claims, arguing that the statute of limitations had expired on those claims. CP 138-48. The trial court granted BTS's motion. CP 418-19. The Association timely appealed. CP 466.

The trial court's decision was reversed. *Burien Town Square Condo. Ass'n v. Burien Town Square Parcel 1, LLC*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_,¹ 416 P.3d 1286, 1288 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018). The relatively short and straightforward decision was rendered less than five weeks after oral argument.² The opinion was published, but this is likely due the fact that the decision interpreted a particular statutory provision that had not yet been considered.

# C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

BTS argues that this Court should take review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). PFR at 6-9. This rule allows review at this Court's discretion if the case involves "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Only the Pacific Reporter citation is currently available.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Oral argument was held on April 9, 2018, and the Court of Appeals' published opinion issued on May 14, 2018.

By arguing only that review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(4), BTS concedes that there is no conflict between the unanimous Court of Appeals decision here and any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals and that the decision raises no significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

This Court has stated that "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4) refers to issues with "sweeping implications." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). In *Watson*, for example, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney distributed a memorandum to all Pierce County Superior Court judges stating that his office would no longer recommend certain drug sentences. *Id.* at 575. Nine months later, Watson was convicted of a drug offense and the prosecuting attorney attached a copy of the memorandum to the sentencing brief, showing it to defense counsel beforehand. *Id.* at 576. In affirming the trial court's sentence, the Court of Appeals declared *sua sponte* that the memorandum was an improper *ex parte* communication but determined that it was harmless in this particular case. *Id.* This Court accepted review, explaining that "substantial public interest" is a higher bar than simply "public concern":

[The case] presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the

potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County... where [the drug] sentence was or is at issue."

*Id.* at 577. As a result, this Court noted that the decision "invites unnecessary litigation . . . creates confusion generally . . . [and] has the potential to chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges." *Id.* This Court granted the state's petition for review. *Id.* at 578.

Thus, what may be of general public interest – a standard which almost every case involving statutory interpretation might meet – is not always of "substantial" public interest. This Court's clarification of what is a "substantial public interest" helps to distinguish cases of general public interest from those actually warranting this Court's review.

(1) BTS Has Not Shown that the Court of Appeals Decision
Merits This Court's Review, Regardless of Whether there
is General Public Interest in the Statute of Limitations for
Condominium Common Area Defect Actions

BTS claims that the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest. PFR at 6. It argues that the interest at stake is that of condominium consumers and developers alike, because the decision will drive up the cost of housing "as the result of developers' uncertainty concerning extended liability exposure." *Id*.

BTS fails to argue with specificity how properly interpreting the statute of limitations will significantly increase housing costs or harm consumers, such that there is a substantial public interest at stake here.

BTS suggests that if developers are allowed to build condominiums with defective common areas and then escape liability, it will allow them to build more cheaply. However, this will not decrease housing costs for condominium consumers, who will have to personally bear the costs of repairing their defective common areas.

Also, in arguing merely that this case involves an issue of public interest, BTS omits some language from RAP 13.4(b)(4). That rule permits review in cases of substantial public interest "that should be determined by the Supreme Court." This additional phrase suggests that review not is warranted in every case where a substantial public interest is It is only warranted in those cases where this Court's considerable time, expertise and resources are needed because the issue is particularly complex, controversial questions of law and policy are presented, or for some other reason. See, e.g., In Re Adoption of T.A.W., 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016) (granting RAP 13.4(b)(4) review in case involving applicability of ambiguous provision of Indian Child Welfare Act in case where one parent was non-Indian and one was Indian); Matter of Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017), rev'd. 190 Wn.2d 136 (2018) (granting RAP 13.4(b)(4) review in case involving child rape laws where prior decisions appeared incorrectly decided and lower court had applied non-traditional "horizontal stare decisis rule").

Otherwise, the substantial public interest is satisfied by the Court of Appeals' opinion, and this Court's review is not warranted.

Almost any case heard at the Court of Appeals will involve some question of law that might be of general interest to the public. That does not mean every court of appeals opinion merits review by this Court. Instead, this Court's work should focus on difficult questions of law and policy that need the considerable investment of time, resources, and intellectual effort of its nine members to resolve.

The Court of Appeals here applied plain, if technical, language in the WCA to determine that the statute of limitations had not run on a claim for construction defects. The decision is clear, short, and uncontroversial. It adequately resolves the question presented and does not suggest any controversy in need of this Court's valuable time.

BTS incorrectly claims that this Court's review is merited because the Court of Appeals' decision creates uncertainty about the statute of limitations. PFR at 6. If anything, the Court of Appeals' decision offers developers more certainty as to when the statute of limitations is tolled, not less. The uncertainty in this case is reflected in BTS's trial court briefing, which shifted rationales and explanations for how the tolling provisions were triggered. *See* Br. of Appellant at 23-24. This uncertainty was resolved by the Court of Appeals' opinion.

(2) BTS Policy Arguments for Review Are Not Well Founded and Are Contrary to the Public Policy Behind the WCA, as the Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded

BTS complains that the Court of Appeals decision exposes it to suit "indefinitely." PFR at 7. BTS argues that it is unfair in this case, where it built a defective condominium and then went bankrupt, to subject it to the tolling provisions of RCW 64.34.308(5)(b).

The Court of Appeals rejected the same policy argument that BTS makes here, that is unfair or bad for condominium prices if the original developers of defective condominium buildings cannot escape liability by transferring ownership of the property:

[A]dopting BTS's interpretation of the period of declarant control would create a loophole in the WCA's protection for unit owners. ...But a statute of limitation should only protect against stale claims and not provide a shield from almost all liability. We reject an interpretation of the WCA that would allow a statute of limitations for claims involving condominium common elements to expire before the unit owners ever gain control of the unit owners' association.

Burien Town Square, 416 P.3d at 1290.

The other entity that rejected BTS' argument is the Legislature. In fact, the WCA specifically provides that builders of defective condominiums *retain* liability for their shoddy work even if they transfer the building to another owner's control:

A transferor of special declarant rights is not relieved of any obligation or liability arising before the transfer and remains liable for warranty obligations imposed upon the transferor by this chapter.

RCW 64.34.316(2)(a).

BTS also argues that because it was foreclosed upon and forced to surrender ownership to a third party, it had no control over the date the termination of declarant control would obtain, and thus no control over when the statute of limitations would expire. PFR at 7.

BTS is wrong. Control by a successor declarant is not "potentially unending" under the WCA. The Legislature provided multiple avenues for declarant control to end regardless of whether the declarant wants to retain control or not. RCW 64.34.380. Of the many events that can trigger the end of declarant control, the statute provides that the earliest event applies, not the last. *Id.* BTS's claim of unfairness in the Legislature's decision to toll the statute of limitations until individual unit owners control their building's governance is not well taken.

Any alleged "injustice" that developers experience by being held liable for building shoddy condominiums is imposed by the plain language of the statute, not the Court of Appeals' decision. As such, its arguments should be addressed to the Legislature. Review will not aid BTS' plight;

this Court is just as bound by the plain language of the statute as the Court of Appeals.

(3) Not Every Issue of First Impression Merits Review by This Court, Particularly Where the Issues Were Easily Resolved Below by Consulting the Statute and a Dictionary

BTS contends that this Court should take review because this case involves an issue of first impression. PFR at 8. It notes that the Court of Appeals' opinion contains little reference to case law, and that "without an established body of case law for guidance, all parties would benefit from review of this decision." *Id*.

It is true that the Court of Appeals did not rely on much case law in its opinion. It did not need to. It was interpreting the plain language of a statute, and resort to judicial interpretation was not needed. *Burien Town Square*, 416 P.3d at 1291-92. Instead, the Court relied on the statute and on the dictionary where statutory language was undefined, such as the words "exercise" and "transfer." *Id*.

There is no support for the notion that a Court of Appeals' decision merits review because it contains an insufficient resort to case law. There is no need for judicial interpretation when the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous. *State v. Glas*, 147 Wn.2d 410, 415, 54 P.3d 147 (2002).

Review is not warranted in this straightforward case applying the plain language of a statute to undisputed facts.

# (4) The Association Is Entitled to an Award of Fees Under RAP 18.1(j)

This Court should authorize the trial court to award fees incurred in answering BTS' petition if the Association prevails on remand. Under RAP 18.1(j), "reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review."

The Association requested an award of fees at the Court of Appeals under RCW 64.34.455, which affords courts in WCA cases discretion to award fees to a prevailing party at trial. Br. of Appellant at 23. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's award of fees to BTS under this provision, but stated that fees to the Association should abide remand. *Burien Town Square*, 416 P.3d 1292.

The Association respectfully requests that its fees incurred in responding to BTS' petition be authorized.

#### D. CONCLUSION

BTS has not shown that review is warranted. The Court of Appeals decision is clear and simple, applies plain statutory language,

addresses policy matters, and does not require correction or clarification by this Court.

Review should be denied, and fees should be awarded to the Association for having to answer BTS' petition.